Filed 02-07-2022

Page 1 of 16

FILED 02-07-2022 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN

#### COURT OF APPEALS

#### DISTRICT III

#### Case No. 2021AP1596-CR

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

KAYDEN R. YOUNG,

Defendant-Respondent.

## APPEAL FROM AN ORDER GRANTING DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO DISMISS ENTERED IN THE MARATHON COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE MICHAEL K. MORAN, PRESIDING

#### **BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT**

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

ERIC M. MUELLENBACH Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1104731

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Appellant

#### **INTRODUCTION**

In 2014, Young was convicted of second-degree sexual assault of a child. The court withheld sentence and placed Young on probation. Pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 973.048(2m), the court was also required to order Young to register as a sex offender unless it also found that the underage sexual activity exception of Wis. Stat. § 301.45(1m)(a)1m. applied.

Young filed a motion seeking the underage sexual activity exemption and the court granted it on a temporary six-month basis to see how Young performed on probation. Several weeks later, Young's probation was revoked and he was returned to court for sentencing. The court imposed a bifurcated sentence and ordered Young to register as a sex offender.

A few years later, in 2019, Young was charged in a separate case with failing to comply with his registration requirements. Young filed a motion to dismiss arguing that, in 2014, the court granted his motion to except him from the registration requirement. He argued that, because the court lacked the authority to grant a temporary exception, he is permanently exempt from the registration requirement.

The circuit court agreed. It held that it lacked the authority to grant a temporary exception. The court concluded that, because it granted Young's exception motion, the exception is permanent. Thus, the court dismissed the charge of failing to comply with the reporting requirements.

The court erred. Section 973.048(2m) required the court to order Young to register as a sex offender both when it placed him on probation and when it sentenced him for violating Wis. Stat. § 948.02(2) after his probation was revoked. Therefore, this Court should reverse.

#### **ISSUE PRESENTED**

Did the circuit court erroneously grant Young's motion to dismiss the charge of failing to register as a sex offender?

This Court should answer, "yes."

## STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The State does not request either oral argument or publication. This case may be resolved by applying wellestablished legal principles to the facts of this case.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal challenges the order dismissing the sex offender registry violation charge against Young in the underlying criminal case—Marathon County Case Number 2019CF1242. However, this issue is affected by the fact that, in a separate criminal case—Marathon County Case Number 2013CF875, Young was excepted from the sex offender registration requirement after being placed on probation. After his probation was revoked, the court imposed the registration requirement at sentencing. Therefore, a brief background on both cases will be helpful.

#### Background on Marathon County Case Number 2013CF875

According to CCAP,<sup>1</sup> on May 6, 2014, Young was convicted of second-degree sexual assault of a child in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> https://wcca.wicourts.gov/caseDetail.html?caseNo=2013C F000875&countyNo=37&index=0&mode=details (last visited Feb. 4, 2022). Unless otherwise noted, the facts contained in the background for Case Number 2013CF875 are taken from CCAP. See Kirk v. Credit Acceptance Corp., 2013 WI App 32, ¶ 5 n.1, 346 Wis. 2d 635, 829 N.W.2d 522 (court may take judicial notice of CCAP records).

Marathon County Case Number 2013CF875. The court<sup>2</sup> withheld sentence and placed Young on probation for four years. Pursuant to section 973.048(2m), the court was also required to order Young to register as a sex offender for life<sup>3</sup> unless it also found that the underage sexual activity exception pursuant to section 301.45(1m)(a)1m. applied.

On May 9, 2014, Young filed a motion seeking the underage sexual activity exception. (R. 32:1–2.) After a hearing on the motion was held, the court granted Young a temporary six-month exception "to see how he does on probation." A follow up hearing was scheduled for November 24, 2014.

Several weeks later, Young violated the terms of his probation. (R. 32:2.) At the November 24, 2014, follow up hearing, the court noted that Young was facing revocation and, as a result, refused to make a final determination on his exception motion until those proceedings were finalized.

Young's probation was eventually revoked and, at the November 2015 sentence hearing after revocation, the court sentenced Young to a total of 11.5 years' imprisonment. The court also ordered Young to register as a sex offender.

# Case underlying the instant appeal—Marathon County Case Number 2019CF1242

In October 2019, the Department of Corrections informed the Marathon County district attorney's office that Young was non-compliant with his registration reporting requirements. (R. 2:2.) As a result, Young was charged with failing to comply with those requirements in the case underlying the instant appeal–Marathon County Case Number 2019CF1242. (R. 2:1.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Honorable Michael K. Moran.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> See Wis. Stat. § 301.45(5)(b)1m.

In July 2021, Young filed a motion to dismiss the charge. (R. 32.) He argued that, under section 301.45(1m), a court must either grant or deny a motion for sex offender registration exception and, therefore, the court did not have the authority to order a temporary exception. (R. 32:3.) Young further argued that, because the court granted his motion (albeit on a temporary basis) in May 2014, he is permanently excepted from the registration requirement. (R. 32:3.)

At a hearing on the motion to dismiss, the court<sup>4</sup> began by noting that a conviction of second-degree sexual assault requires lifetime registration unless an exemption applies. (R. 40:8.) The court explained that, when it placed Young on probation, it "was not necessarily inclined to make him register [for] the rest of his life." (R. 40:8.) Thus, it gave Young an "opportunity to prove" that he was "worthy" of the underage sexual activity exception by granting him a temporary exception. (R. 40:8.) However, the court added that, upon further reflection, it did not believe that it had the authority to grant a temporary exception. (R. 40:11.) Instead, it believed that the exception must either be granted or denied. (R. 40:10-11.) The court concluded that, because it granted Young's exception, and because it lacked the authority to grant the exception on a temporary basis, Young is permanently excepted from the registration requirement. (R. 540;12.) Thus, the court dismissed 2019CF1242.

This appeal follows.

#### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

Whether section 973.048(2m) required the circuit court to order Young to register as a sex offender when it sentenced him for a violation of second-degree sexual assault of a child presents a question of statutory interpretation that this Court

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Also the Honorable Michael K. Moran.

reviews independently. *State v. Hinkle*, 2019 WI 96, ¶ 14, 389 Wis. 2d 1, 935 N.W.2d 271.

#### ARGUMENT

# The circuit court erroneously granted Young's motion to dismiss.

After withholding sentence and placing Young on probation for a violation of second-degree sexual assault of a child in Case Number 2013CF875, the court granted Young's motion to except him from the registration requirement. A short time later, Young's probation was terminated and Young was returned to court and sentenced to a total of 11.5 years. He was also ordered to register as a sex offender. However, at the later hearing on the motion to dismiss in Case Number 2019CF1242, the court concluded that, because it previously granted Young's motion to except him from the registration requirement, it lacked the authority to order him to register after imposing sentence. Thus, the court concluded that, because Young was not required to register as a sex offender, the charge for failing to register must be dismissed.

The circuit court is wrong. Section 973.048(2m) required the court to order Young to register as a sex offender when it sentenced him after revocation in Case Number 2013CF875.

A. Section 973.048(2m) requires circuit courts to order sex offender registration when the court places a person on probation or imposes sentence for second-degree sexual assault of a child.

Section 973.048(2m) provides, in relevant part:

If a court imposes a sentence or places a person on probation for a violation . . . of [second degree sexual assault of a child], . . . the court shall require the person to comply with the reporting requirements under s. 301.45 unless the court determines, after a hearing on a motion made by the person, that the person is not required to comply under s. 301.45 (1m).

Section 301.45(1m) is a narrow exception crafted for sex offenders in cases of factually consensual sexual activity between two minors who, "but for the age of the younger child, would have broken no law." *State v. Joseph E.G.*, 2001 WI App 29, ¶ 11, 240 Wis. 2d 481, 623 N.W.2d 137. It provides that a person convicted of second-degree sexual assault of a child is not required to comply with the sex offender reporting requirements so long as four criteria are met:

- 1) The person had not attained the age of 19 and was not more than 4 years older than the child;
- 2) The child was at least 12-years-old;
- 3) The sexual intercourse did not involve the use or threat of force or violence;
- 4) It is not necessary, in the interest of public protection, to require the person to comply with the reporting requirements.

Wis. Stat. § 301.45(1m)(a)1m.

If a person believes that he meets the requirements for the underage exemption, he may file a motion with the court. Wis. Stat. § 301.45(1m)(b). Once the motion is filed, the court "may" request that the person be examined by a psychologist or other expert. Wis. Stat. § 301.45(1m)(d)1. If the person refuses to undergo an examination, the court is required to deny the motion "without prejudice." Wis. Stat. § 301.45(1m)(d)1.

If no examination is required, or if the person agrees to be examined, a hearing on the motion must be held. Wis. Stat. § 301.45(1m)(bm). At the hearing, the person who filed the motion has the burden of proving by clear and convincing evidence that he satisfies the four criteria specified in paragraph 301.45(1m)(a)1m. B. The circuit court based its decision to grant Young's motion to dismiss on an erroneous interpretation of the law.

In granting Young's motion to dismiss in Case Number 2019CF1242, the circuit court noted that it granted Young's motion to except him from registering as a sex offender when it placed him on probation in Case Number 2013CF875. (R. 40:8.) The court then found that it lacked the authority to make that exception temporary. (R. 40:11.) Thus, the court concluded that, because it granted the exception when it placed Young on probation, and because that exception cannot be temporary, it lacked the authority to order Young to register as a sex offender when it sentenced him after revocation in November 2015. (R. 40:11.)

However, the plain language of section 973.048(2m) requires courts to order registration when it "imposes a sentence or places a person on probation" for a violation of second-degree sexual assault of a child. Thus, the court not only had the authority to order Young to register as a sex offender when it sentenced him after revocation, it was statutorily required to do so. Young was therefore required to register as a sex offender beginning in November 2015. Because he violated his registration requirements in 2019, his motion to dismiss was erroneously granted. (R. 2:3.)

If a person receives an imposed and stayed sentence and is then placed on probation for a violation of second-degree sexual assault of a child, the court is required to order lifetime sex offender registration. Wis. Stat. § 301.45(5)(b)1m. If the court grants the person's section 301.45(1m) motion, the exemption appears to be final under those circumstances.<sup>5</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> For purposes of this appeal, a court's authority to grant a temporary exemption is not at issue. Therefore, the State assumes, solely for purposes of this appeal, that courts lack the ability to grant a temporary exemption under section 301.45(1m).

However, in cases such as this, where the court withholds sentence before placing the person on probation, and when the person is later revoked resulting in a sentence after revocation, the court is obligated under section 973.048(2m) to order registration. That's because, if the person violates probation resulting in revocation, the DOC is required to bring the person back to court "for sentence." Wis. Stat. § 973.10(2)(a). In those instances, the court is required to order registration a second time by virtue of the sentence. That is, the court's requirement to order registration when it imposes sentence after revocation resets the registration requirement, thereby revoking any earlier exceptions granted under section 301.45(1m). Under those circumstances, the person would have to file a second motion under section 301.45(1m) seeking another exemption.

Importantly, there is nothing in the statute prohibiting the defendant from filing a successive motion. In fact, the statute outlines the procedure for filing a motion under section 301.45(1m) after the sentence hearing occurs. *See* Wis. Stat. § 301.45(1m)(b). And, as noted in Section A. above, if the person filing the motion refuses to undergo an examination by a psychologist, the court is required to deny the person's motion "without prejudice." Wis. Stat. § 301.45(1m)(d)1. Thus, a person is not limited to filing a single motion under section 301.45(1m), thereby demonstrating that the registration decision can be revisited.

In sum, the circuit court erred when it concluded that it lacked the authority to order Young to register as a sex offender after imposing sentence. Instead, section 973.048(2m) required the court to order Young to register as a sex offender for life when it sentenced him after revocation in Case Number 2013CF875. Thus, the court erred when it granted Young's motion to dismiss in Case Number 2019CF1242.

## CONCLUSION

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