Filed 05-06-2022

Page 1 of 35

FILED 05-06-2022 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT III

Case No. 2021AP001596-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

KAYDEN R. YOUNG,

Defendant-Respondent.

APPEAL FROM AN ORDER GRANTING DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO DISMISS, ENTERED IN MARATHON COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE MICHAEL K. MORAN PRESIDING

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-RESPONDENT

JEREMY A. NEWMAN Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1084404

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 264-8566 newmanj@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Respondent

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

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

While this appeal concerns the circuit court's order dismissing a charge that Young knowingly failed to register as a sex offender, filed in Marathon County Case No. 2019CF1242, the factual basis for the court's order originates in Marathon County Case No. 2013CF875.¹ The Honorable Judge Michael K. Moran presided over all proceedings in both cases.

In Case No. 2013CF875, Young pled no contest to second degree sexual assault of a child under the age of 16. At the time of the offense, Young was 17 years old and the victim was 14 years old.

On May 6, 2014, the court withheld sentence and placed Young on probation for four years. On May 9, 2014, Young filed a motion with the circuit Wis. Stat. court, pursuant to 301.45(1m)(a)1m. Ş requesting an underage sexual activity exception to the requirement that he comply with the Wisconsin sex offender registry. On May 19, 2014, the court held a hearing and determined that Young satisfied the requirements for the exception, including that it "is not necessary, in the interest of public protection, to require [Young] to comply with the reporting requirements under this section." See Wis. Stat. § 301.45(1m)(a)1m.d. (See also State's Br. 5-6). As noted by the state, however, the

¹ As does the state, Young relies on "CCAP" for any facts specific to Marathon County Case No. 2013CF875 not otherwise contained in the record on appeal in this case. (*See* State's Br. 5).

court attempted to grant Young a "temporary" six-month exception "to see how he does on probation." (State's Br. 6).

Young was subsequently revoked from probation, and on November 4, 2015, the court sentenced Young to 11 years and six months imprisonment, consisting of five years and six months initial confinement and six years extended supervision. At the sentencing after revocation hearing, the court ordered Young to "[c]omply with the Sex Offender Registration Program." (See State's Br. 6).

After serving the initial confinement portion of his sentence in Case No. 2013CF875, Young was released to extended supervision. Shortly thereafter, on November 7, 2019, the state charged Young with knowingly failing to comply with the sex offender registration requirements set forth in Wis. Stat. § 301.45(2)-(4). (2:1-2).

In response, Young filed a motion to dismiss the charge. (32:1-4; App. 3-6). Young argued that Wis. Stat. § 301.45(1m) does not allow for the "temporary" exception the circuit court attempted to order in Case No. 2013CF875. (32:3; App. 5). Instead, Young argued that because the court determined that Young satisfied the criteria under Wis. Stat. § 301.45(1m)(a)1m., he was under no subsequent obligation to register as a sex offender or comply with Wis. Stat. §§ 301.45(2)-(4). (32:3; App. 5).

The state filed a response to Young's motion to dismiss. (36:1-2; App. 7-8). The state conceded that on May 19, 2014, the circuit court made the requisite factual findings under Wis. Stat. § 301.45(1m)(a)1m. and granted Young's motion for an "underage sexual activity exception", albeit "temporarily." (36:1; App. 7). The state next argued, however, that "at the sentencing [after revocation] hearing, the Court, in its determined that at that time discretion. the fourth factor was not met and that it was not in the interest of public protection to allow [Young] not to register." (36:2; App. 8). The state supported its position by arguing that "[r]equiring that the exemption be permanent no matter what transpires after a sentence is not good public policy and would lead to results that [are] contrary to the protection of the community." (36:2; App. 8).

At the hearing on Young's motion to dismiss, the court focused on whether any legal authority supported the court's attempt to temporarily, rather than permanently, grant Young's motion for the underage sexual activity exception:

The court:	Do you feel that the Court had the authority to do this? Are you saying that?
The state:	I do, Judge. Under the statute, the statute does not indicate that the Court can't do that. There is no
The court:	Does it say a court can do that?

The state: *It does not*, Judge. I think it's within the discretion of the Court under that factor four, which is discretionary for the Court.

(40:4; App. 12). (Emphasis added).

In response, Young argued that under a motion for an underage paragraph (1m)(b), sexual activity exception may be filed before sentencing "to see if these factors are met, and that's what was done here. The hearing was held and Your Honor found that the four factors are met." (40:6-7; App. 14-15). Further, Young argued that the statute says "a person is not required to comply with these reporting requirements under this section if the four factors apply, and because Your Honor found that these four factors apply, he has to be exempt." (40:7; App. 15).

After considering the record and the arguments of the parties, the court issued its decision:

I can certainly tell you that I will not do the stay again for any case whether it helps or doesn't help because I don't feel that I have the authority to do it. Reviewing this and reviewing the statutes, I have to have authority and I think that the light's on or the light's off on this, and with much reluctance and with much feeling like -- I still have the belief that his age and all the equities at the time would have been weighed in favor by clear and convincing evidence that the exception would have been -- or the exemption would be appropriate. I feel that the exemption would be appropriate and I don't have the authority, I think, to stay it, and therefore, if I don't think I have the authority to stay it, again, I don't think that I can proceed in this case and have the Court of Appeals tell me I don't have the authority to stay it, and it doesn't do anybody any good.

I think we have to look at statutes from a perspective of what can we do and what can't we do? ... Imposing and staying the sex offender registry in this kind of situation, that day is gone, so that's not going to happen and I don't think I have the authority to do it unless I'm expressly given that authority, and therefore, I'm going to grant the defense motion at this time and I'll dismiss.

(40:10-12; App. 18-20).

In other words, the circuit court concluded that it had no authority to "temporarily" stay Young's requirement to register as a sex offender and that because Young satisfied the criteria set forth on Wis. Stat. § 301.45(1m)(a)1m.a.-d., he was permanently not required to register as a sex offender. Upon concluding there is no basis for the state's charge that he knowingly failed to register as a sex offender, the court dismissed that charge in this case.² (41; App. 26). The state appealed.

² To be clear, Young's position and the circuit court's decision are based on the undisputed fact that no other legal basis exists that would separately require Young to comply with Wis. Stat. § 301.45. In this sense, Young's underage sexual activity exception is "permanent" with respect to Case No. 2013CF875.

ARGUMENT

While Young and the state clearly disagree about whether the circuit court was correct to grant Young's motion to dismiss, there appears to be substantial agreement about the law and facts that control the outcome of this appeal.

First, based on his second degree sexual assault of a child conviction, Young was initially required to register as a sex offender under Wis. Stat. § 301.45(1g)(a), unless the circuit court determined that the underage sexual activity exception applied. *See* Wis. Stat. §§ 301.45(1g), (1m).

Second, Young filed a motion under Wis. Stat. § 301.45(1m)(b) and the court proceeded as directed under the statute and determined that Young satisfied the criteria set forth in Wis. Stat. §§ 301.45(1m)(a)1m.a.-d. and ordered that he was not required to register as a sex offender.

Third, the circuit court has no authority to grant a "temporary" underage sexual activity exception under Wis. Stat. § 301.45(1m).

Thus, the sole dispute in this case is which statutory provision controls: Wis. Stat. § 301.45(1m) or § 973.048(2m). For the reasons set forth above and as argued below, this Court should hold that § 301.45(1m) controls and the circuit court was correct to grant Young's motion to dismiss.

I. The Standard of Review

To decide whether the circuit court properly granted Young's motion to dismiss, this Court must engage in statutory interpretation, which presents a question of law this Court reviews independently, but on which an appellate court benefits from the discussions of the circuit court. *State v. Guarnero*, 2015 WI 72, ¶12, 363 Wis. 2d 857, 867 N.W.2d 400.

Statutory interpretation begins with the language of the statute. State ex rel. Kalal v. Circuit Court for Dane County, 2004 WI 58, ¶45, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110. Statutory language is generally "given its common, ordinary, and accepted meaning." Id. Because "[c]ontext" and "structure of the statute in which the operative language appears" are "important to meaning," "statutory language is interpreted in the context in which is it used; not in isolation but as part of a whole; in relation to the language of surrounding or closely related statutes; and reasonably, to avoid absurd results." Id., ¶46. Further, "[s]tatutory language is read where possible to give reasonable effect to every word, in order to avoid surplusage." Id.

II. Wisconsin's Sex Offender Registration Scheme

Individuals who are required to register as sex offenders in Wisconsin fall into two categories: (1) individuals who are automatically or mandatorily required to register based on conviction, adjudication, disposition, or some other prescribed status, and (2) individuals who are required to register because a court exercised its discretion and determined that the interests of the public require registration. See Wis. Stat. §§ 301.45(1g)(a)-(g).³

the For mandatory category of cases. circuit courts have no discretion to determine whether an individual is required to register as a sex offender. For example, "a person convicted or adjudicated delinquent on or after December 25, 1993, for a sex offense," as defined by § 301.45(1d)(b), "shall comply with the reporting requirements under this section." Wis. Stat. §§ 301.45(1g), (1g)(a). Similarly, any person in prison or on community supervision on or after December 25, 1993, for a "sex offense," must automatically register. Wis. Stat. § 301.45(1g)(b). The list goes on. See Wis. Stat. §§ 301.45(1g)(bm), (c), (d), (dd), (dh), (dj), (dp), (dt), (f), and (g).

For the discretionary category of cases, Wis. Stat. § 301.45 requires some individuals to register and comply with Wis. Stat. § 301.45's reporting requirements if a circuit court exercises its discretion and determines that registration is in the public interest. For example, Wis. Stat. § 301.45(1g)(e) covers a person who "[i]s ordered by a court under s. 51.20(13)(ct)1m., 938.34(15m)(am), 939.345(3), 971.17(1m)(b)1m. or 973.048(1m) to comply with the reporting requirements under this section." *See also*

³ For the court's convenience, a copy of Wis. Stat. §§ 301.45(1d)-(1p) is included in the appendix to this brief. (*See* App. 28-29).

Page 20 of 35

Wis. Stat. §§ 301.45(1g)(dL) (required to register if "placed on lifetime supervision under s. 939.615"); (1g)(em) (required to register based on a finding of need of protection or services and ordered to comply by a court).

Finally, the statute provides for two types of judicially determined "exceptions" to the "registration requirement." See Wis. Stat. §§ 301.45(1g), (1m), and (1p). Only the first type is relevant to this case: § 301.45(1m)'s "underage sexual activity exception." The other exception concerns "privacy-related offenses," which has no application to Young's case. See Wis. Stat. § 301.45(1p).

A. The underage sexual activity exception: Wis. Stat. § 301.45(1m).

The underage sexual activity exception to Wisconsin's sex offender registry is set forth in Wis. Stat. § 301.45(1m). See also Wis. Stat. § 301.45(1g) ("Except as provided in subs. (1m) and (1p), a person shall comply with the reporting requirements under this section if her or she meets one or more of the following criteria."). (Emphasis added). Under § 301.45(1m)(a), "[a] person is not required to comply with the reporting requirements under this section if any of the following applies." Subdivision 1m. sets forth four criteria that must each be satisfied to qualify for the underage sexual activity exception:

(a) The person meets the criteria under sub. (1g)(a) to (dd) based on any violation, or on the solicitation, conspiracy or attempt to commit

any violation, of s. 948.02(1) or (2), 948.025, or 948.085(2).

- (b) The violation, or the solicitation, conspiracy or attempt to commit the violation, of s. 948.02
 (1) or (2), 948.025, or 948.085 (2) did not involve sexual intercourse, as defined in s. 948.01 (6), either by the use or threat of force or violence or with a victim under the age of 12 years.
- (c) At the time of the violation, or of the solicitation, conspiracy or attempt to commit the violation, of s. 948.02 (1) or (2), 948.025, or 948.085 (2), the person had not attained the age of 19 years and was not more than 4 years older or not more than 4 years younger than the child.
- (d) It is not necessary, in the interest of public protection, to require the person to comply with the reporting requirements under this section.

Wis. Stat. §. 301.45(1m)(a)1m.a.-d.

In summary, the underage sexual activity exception set forth in § 301.45(1m)(a)1m. applies if (1) the person committed one of four enumerated "sex offenses:" first or second degree sexual assault of a child, repeated sexual assault of the same child, or sexual assault of a child placed in substitute care; (2) the sex offense did not involve sexual intercourse by the use or threat of force or violence or a victim under the age of 12 years; (3) there is no more than a four year age difference between the person, who must be under 19 years old, and the victim; and (4) the circuit court determines that it is not necessary, "in the interest of public protection," to require the person to register as a sex offender.

The legislature enacted the underage sexual activity exception "[t]o craft a narrow exception to mandatory registration for sex offenders in cases of factual consensual sexual contact between two minors who, but for the age of the younger child, would have broken no law." In re Joseph E.G., 2001 WI App 29, ¶11, 240 Wis.2d 481, 623 N.W.2d 481. "In such a case, the circuit court has the discretion to excuse the offender from registration if it determines that factually consensual contact has occurred, the offender presents no danger to the public, and the court is satisfied that the purposes of § 301.45 are not undermined by excusing registration." Id.

The statute sets forth a detailed procedure to be followed if a person "believes that he or she is not required under par. (a) to comply with the reporting requirements under this section." Wis. Stat. § 301.45(b). First, "[i]f a person believes" they satisfy the criteria for the exception, "the person may move a court to make a determination of whether the person satisfies the criteria specified in par. (a)." Wis. Stat. § 301.45(1m)(b). Second, if a motion is filed under § 301.45(1m)(b), a "court shall hold a hearing." Wis. Stat. § 301.45(1m)(bm). Third, before deciding the motion, the "court may request the person to be examined by a physician, psychologist or other expert approved by the court." Wis. Stat. § 301.45(1m)(d)1. Fourth, at a hearing on the motion, the person has the "burden of proving by clear and convincing evidence that he or she satisfies the criteria specified in par. (a)." Wis. Stat. § 301.45(1m)(e). In determining whether the person has established that "[i]t is not necessary, in the interest of public protection, to require the person to comply with the reporting requirements under this section," the court "may consider" the seven factors set forth in Wis. Stat. § 301.45(1m)(e)1.-7.

In the end, "[a] person is not required to comply with the reporting requirements under [Wis. Stat. § 301.45]" if the court determines that the person satisfies the underage sexual activity criteria listed in Wis. Stat. §§ 301.45(1m)(a)1m.a.-d. Wis. Stat. § 301.45(1m)(a).

> B. Discretionary sex offender registration under Wis. Stat. §§ 301.45(1g)(e) and 973.048.

As set forth in Wis. Stat. § 301.45(1g)(e), one type of discretionary sex offender registration is provided for in Wis. Stat. § 973.048(1m).⁴ Like the other bases for discretionary registration set forth in § 301.45(1g)(e), § 973.048(1m) allows for discretionary registration, in some circumstances, if a circuit court finds that the underlying conduct was "sexually motivated," as defined by Wis. Stat. § 980.01(5), and

⁴ As with Wis. Stat. §§ 301.45(1d)-(1p), a copy of Wis. Stat. § 973.048 is also included in the appendix to this brief. (*See* App. 30-31).

that sex offender registration would be "in the interest of public protection." *See* Wis. Stat. § 973.048(1m)(a).

Paragraph 973.048(1m)(a) addresses discretionary sex offender registration for defendants convicted of certain *non*-sex offenses:

> Except as provided in sub. (2m), if a court imposes a sentence or places a person on probation for any violation, or for the solicitation, conspiracy, or attempt to commit any violation, under ch. 940, 944, or 948 or s. 942.08 or 942.09, or ss. 943.01 to 943.15, the court may require the person to comply with the reporting requirements under s. 301.45 if the court determines that the underlying conduct was sexually motivated, as defined in s. 980.01(5), and that it would be in the interest of public protection to have the person report under s. 301.45.

Wis. Stat. § 973.048(1m)(a). (Emphasis added).

In determining whether it would be "in the interest of public protection to have the person report under s. 301.45," the court may consider five enumerated factors, and "any other factor that the court determines to be relevant to the particular case." *See* Wis. Stat. § 973.048(1m)(a) and (3)(a)-(g).

To summarize, Wis. Stat. §§ 301.45(1g)(e) and 973.048(1m) concern discretionary sex offender registration for defendants convicted of conduct not statutorily defined as a "sex offense" under Wis. Stat. § 301.45(1d)(b). More specifically, only offenses listed in chapters 940, 944, or 948 or section 942.08 or 942.09 or sections 943.01 to 943.15, are subject to a determination that the conduct was "sexually motivated" or that the public would be protected by requiring the individual to register as a sex offender. *See* Wis. Stat. §§ 973.048(1m)(a) and 301.45(1g)(e).

As explicitly referenced in Wis. Stat. § 973.048(1m)(a), subsection (2m) clarifies that circuit courts have no such discretion, outside of Wis. Stat. § 301.45(1m)'s underage sexual activity exception, to decide whether someone convicted of a statutorily enumerated "sex offense" is required to register as a sex offender. Subsection 973.048(2m) provides:

> If a court imposes a sentence or places a person on probation for a violation, or for the solicitation, conspiracy or attempt to commit a violation, of s. 940.22(2), 940.225(1), (2), or (3), 944.06, 948.02(1) or (2), 948.025, 948.05, 948.051, 948.055, 948.06, 948.07, 948.075, 948.08, 948.085, 948.095, 948.11 (2) (a) or (am), 948.12, 948.13, or 948.30, of s. 940.302 (2) if s. 940.302 (2) (a) 1. b. applies, or of s. 940.30 or 940.31 if the victim was a minor and the person was not the victim's parent,⁵ the court shall require the person to comply with the reporting requirements under s. 301.45 unless the court determines, after a hearing on a motion made by the person, that the person is not required to comply under s. 301.45 (1m).

⁵ This list of enumerated offenses is the same list set forth in Wis. Stat. § 301.45(1d)(b)'s definition of "sex offense."

Read in context with § 301.45, and specifically in light of § 301.45(1g)(a)'s mandatory registration provision compared to § 301.45(1g)(e)'s discretionary registration provision, § 973.048(2m) reminds circuit courts that a person convicted of a statutorily defined "sex offense" is automatically required to register as a sex offender *unless* the court determines the person satisfies § 301.45(1m)'s underage sexual activity exception.

Recall. paragraph 973.048(1m)(a)states: "Except as provided in sub. (2m), if a court imposes a sentence or places a person on probation for any violation, or for the solicitation, conspiracy, or attempt to commit any violation, under ch. 940, 944, or 948 or s. 942.08 or 942.09, or ss. 943.01 to 943.15, the court may require the person to comply with the reporting requirements under s. 301.45..." (Emphasis added). By referencing subsection (2m), which in turn references § 301.45(1m)'s underage sexual activity exception, the circuit court is reminded that "any violation" under chapters 940 or 948 does not include enumerated sex offenses. Thus, the import of this subsection is to remind courts that the discretionary authority granted in section 973.048 does not extend to "any" statutorily defined sex offense even though all sex offenses are included within chapters 940 and 948. See Wis. Stat. §§ 301.45(1d)(b), 973.048(1m)(a), 973.048(2m).

As will be argued further below, the state's argument that § 973.048(2m) sets forth an affirmative requirement to register that "resets" and "revokes" an

underage sexual activity exception previously granted has been forfeited, but if considered, must be rejected on the merits.

III. The Circuit Court Properly Granted Young's Motion to Dismiss.

A. This Court should deem the state to have forfeited its appellate argument based on Wis. Stat. § 973.048(2m).

Forfeiture is the failure to make the timely assertion of a right. State v. Ndina, 2009 WI 21, ¶29, 315 Wis. 2d 653, 761 N.W.2d 612. Arguments raised first time for the on appeal are forfeited. In re Guardianship of Willa L., 2011 WI App 160, ¶¶19-27, 338 Wis. 2d 114, 808 N.W.2d 155. Moreover, the forfeiture rule focuses "on whether particular arguments have been preserved, not on whether general issues were raised before the circuit court. Id., ¶25 (citing State v. Rogers, 196 Wis. 2d 817, 827, 539 N.W.2d 897 (Ct. App. 1995) for the proposition that "the forfeiture rule requires that, to preserve its arguments, a party must "make all of their arguments to the trial court."").

Because forfeiture is a rule of "judicial administration," appellate courts have discretion to address arguments raised for the first time on appeal. Id., ¶23. For example, this Court may ignore forfeiture when a case presents an "important recurring issue." Id. However, the "forfeiture rule promotes efficient and fair litigation." Id., ¶26. As explained by Ndina: The purpose of the "forfeiture" rule is to enable the circuit court to avoid or correct any error with minimal disruption of the judicial process, eliminating the need for appeal. The forfeiture rule also gives both parties and the circuit court notice of the issue and a fair opportunity to address the objection; encourages attorneys to diligently prepare for and conduct trials; and prevents attorneys from "sandbagging" opposing counsel by failing to object to an error for strategic reasons and later claiming that the error is grounds for reversal.

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